IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2009-WC-006540-COA

RAYMOND D. LANGFORD

APPELLANT

**VERSUS** 

SOUTHLAND TRUCKING, L.L.C., AND MISSISSIPPI ASSOCIATED GENERAL CONTRACTORS WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND, INC.

APPELLEES

## APPELLANT'S CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellee hereby certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this civil action. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Raymond D. Langford, Appellant
- 2. William T. Reed, Attorney for Appellant
- 4. Robert H. Oswald, Law Firm of Oswald & Reed

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT, ACTING AS AN APPEALS COURT, APPLIED AN INCORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW BASED ON THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE'S ADOPTION OF THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND THE COMMISSION'S AFFIRMANCE OF THE ORDER WITHOUT EXPLANATION.

II.

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION DENYING CLAIMANT TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY AND MEDICAL BENEFITS IS ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS AND BASED UPON ERRORS OF LAW AND UNSUPPORTED FINDINGS OF FACT.

III.

WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY FINDING THE CLAIMANT'S LUNG AND HEART VALVE INJURY DID NOT ARISE OUT OF THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH SOUTHLAND TRUCKING, L.L.C., PURSUANT TO 71-3-7 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972 AS AMENDED AND ANNOTATED.

## Statement of the Case

The Appellant, Raymond Langford, was employed as a truck driver for Southland Trucking, L.L.C. On or about July 25, 2001, late in the afternoon, and in preparation for washing his truck at the facility on the upcoming Saturday, Mr. Langford went to Metro Concrete, a business located on the same property and with the same ownership as Southland Trucking, to fill a container with Crete Brite, a chemical compound used to clean the wheels of the company truck.

The Crete Brite was stored in a 55 gallon drum. An employee of Metro Concrete, Richard Townsend, tilted the drum to pour the 100% strength Crete Brite into a plastic container being held by the claimant, Raymond Langford. (RE 42)

The Crete Brite was then diluted to 3% for the washing purposes. While pouring the 100% strength Crete Brite from the drum Raymond Langford got a big whiff, or inhaled the vapors. He also testified that he was splashed by droplets of the chemical.

(RE 42)

Mr. Langford went home. The following morning he got up at 2:00 a.m. to report to work at 3:00 a.m., was short of breath and not feeling well. He made a load to Picayune, Mississippi, and upon his return he told his employer he was not feeling well, was having trouble breathing, went home, then went to Ocean Springs

Hospital where he was admitted to Intensive Care and put on oxygen. After a day and a half he was discharged, still on oxygen, went straight to Singing River Hospital in Pascagoula where he was readmitted to Intensive Care and he stayed there for the next 31 consecutive days. His condition was serious, severe and life threatening. (RE 43-45)

While in intensive care Mr. Langford's pulmonary specialist, Dr. Hiebert, who considered Langford to be in a near death condition, opted to perform a lung biopsy in an attempt to diagnose and treat his lung injury. (RE 44-45)

The tissue from the lung biopsy was then reviewed by a lung expert, Dr. James Waldron, who opined that, based on Mr. Langford's history of being exposed to Crete Brite and the tissue sample, that Langford's condition was consistent with chemical pneumonitis. (RE 46)

Mr. Langford had a pre-existing heart valve condition and had been treated by Dr. Pedone, a heart specialist. Dr. Pedone opined that the claimant's heart valve condition deteriorated because of the lung injury necessitating heart the valve replacement. (RE 47)

The Employer/Carrier's defense was shotgunned: they claimed that Mr. Langford either wasn't exposed to Crete Brite, was using the Crete Brite for his own purposes, or that Crete Brite didn't cause the injury, and they hired Experts, none of whom ever saw

Mr. Langford or examined him, to provide affidavits to that effect.

At the conclusion of the hearing the Administrative Law

Judge requested proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

from both parties. Her Order essentially adopted the Findings of

Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Employer/Carrier, Southland

Trucking, L.L.C.

Mr. Langford appealed to the full Workers' Compensation
Commission, argued that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of
Law were arbitrary, capricious, and not supported by substantial
evidence and the Commission affirmed.

Mr. Langford then appealed to the Circuit Court of Jackson County and the Court, while receptive to a higher standard of review of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law adopted solely from one party, determined that substantial evidence existing supporting the Commission's Findings of Fact.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Raymond Langford, in the course and scope of his employment, was exposed to the chemical compound Crete Brite as a part of his job duties. Within thirty-six hours he was in intensive care suffering respiratory failure and ultimately heart valve failure.

Under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act the Employer/Carrier is obligated to provide temporary total disability benefits and pay for medical expenses flowing from such an injury.

Claimant's legal position and the purpose of this appeal is to make one last attempt to have the Mississippi Workers'

Compensation Act applied to the evidence as it was intended by the Act and applicable Mississippi case law.

At the trial of this matter before the Mississippi Workers'
Compensation Administrative Law Judge at the conclusion of the
hearing the ALJ requested proposed Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law from the parties. She subsequently adopted
the Employer/Carrier's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as
her Opinion.

On appeal to the full Commission it was affirmed without Opinion.

On appeal to the Circuit Court of Jackson County the Court, after finding that the ALJ had, in fact, adopted the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of the Employer/Carrier as her Opinion failed to apply Mississippi Workers' Compensation law as follows:

(1) A heightened Standard Of Review when the ALJ adopts the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of one party;

- (2) An injury arising from the course and scope of employment is not required to be the sole and only cause of the injury;
- (3) Deference is afforded to the claimant's treating physicians opinions and findings as opposed to witnesses hired for trial purposes; and
- (4) Findings are clearly erroneous when the reviewing court is left with the definite and firm conclusion that a mistake has been made by the Commission in its Findings of Fact and its application of the Act.

Mr. Langford asserts that once the evidence is fairly evaluated, he receives the inferences entitled to him under the Act, the Court appropriately evaluates the testimony of the treating physicians and all the medical evidence, that this Court must reverse and award Temporary total Disability and medical benefits as provided by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act.

## ARGUMENT

I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT, ACTING AS AN APPEALS COURT, APPLIED AN INCORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW BASED ON THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE'S ADOPTION OF THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND THE COMMISSION'S AFFIRMANCE OF THE ORDER WITHOUT EXPLANATION.

On Appeal the Circuit Court Judge, after reviewing the Record and the Briefs of both parties, determined that the

Administrative Law Judge of the Workers' Compensation Commission had adopted, almost verbatim, the findings and conclusions of the Employer/Carrier's Brief submitted prior to the hearing of May 17, 2007.

Claimant asserts that the Circuit Court, after quoting applicable law, failed to perform the required examination of the Record. The Circuit Judge found:

Langford argues on appeal that this deferential standard of review is not warranted here since the ALJ adopted, almost verbatim, the findings and arguments set forth in Southland Trucking's trial brief submitted prior to the hearing of May 17, 2007. In such circumstances, it is necessary to view the challenged findings of fact with a more critical eye to insure that the Commission has adequately performed its Omnibank of Mantee v. United Southern Bank, 607 So.2d 76, 82-83 (Miss. 1992); Greenwood Utilities v. Williams, 801 So.2d 783, Sections 10-15 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). While the deferential standard is lessened, it is not de novo. Rice Researchers, Inc. v. Hiter, et al, 512 So.21d 1259, 1265 (Miss. 1987). With these considerations in mind this Court has thoroughly examined the record in this matter and, even utilizing a relaxed standard of review, there exists on the whole substantial evidence supporting the Commission's findings of fact and decision in this case. (and)

The conclusion of the ALJ and the Commission that Langford failed to satisfy his burden of proof, that his injury and condition arose out of and in the course of his employment, is supported by substantial evidence and therefore must be affirmed. (R. 112)

The problem with the Judge's application of the Standard of Review is that the Judge relied upon the case law which failed to consider that, in essence, the ALJ's opinion was nothing more than the Employer/Carrier's Trial Brief.

Mr. Langford has not been afforded a full, fair, impartial review of the evidence and the application of the law based on that evidence. When the Trial Court accepted the conclusion of the ALJ and the Commission he found "substantial evidence" when the only evidence considered was that submitted by the employer/carrier:

The manner and mechanism of injury was hotly contested, as was the medical testimony in regard to the cause of the injuries claimed to be work related. The supreme Court has held that whenever medical expert testimony is conflicting the commission will be upheld whether the award is for or against the claimant. Kersh v. Greenville Sheet Metal Works, 192 So.2d 266, 268 (Miss. 1966). The conclusion of the ALJ and the Commission that Langford failed to satisfy his burden of proof, that his injury and condition arose out of and in the course and scope of his employment, is supported by substantial evidence and therefore must be affirmed. (Circuit Court's Order Affirming Decision of Workers' Compensation Commission) (R. 112)

The Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals have held that when a trial judge merely adopts the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law of a litigant that the appeals court has:

\* \* \* "no choice but to 'engage in much more careful analysis of adopting findings that in cases where the findings and conclusions have been authorized by the trial judge himself.'" Omnibank, 607. So.2d at 83. The Supreme Court stated that "{w}e must keep a keen eye for gratuitous slants." and that "our duty of deference' to such findings is necessarily lessened." Id. "At the very least, we may assume such findings have given the party drafting them the benefit of the favorable inference that may be found in the facts." Id.

Greenwood Utilities v. Williams 801 So.2d 783, 788 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001).

Findings that tend against the drafting party would seem as solid as can be. We do not wish to appear insensitive to the burdens the trial court carries. The course chosen here increases the burden on this Court as an appellate court, and we "must view the challenged findings of fact and the appellate record as a whole with a more critical eye to insure that the trial court has adequately performed its function." Rice Researchers, 512 So.2d at 1265; see also Tricon Metals & Services, Inc. v. Topp, 516 So.2d 236, 239 (Miss. 1987)

Omnibank of Mantee v. United Southern Bank, 607 So.2d 76, 82-83 (Miss. 1992)

See Also: Mississippi Department of Wildlife V. Brannon, 943 So.2D 53 (Miss. Ct. of App. 2006).

Claimant asserted before the full Commission and before the Circuit Court that the ALJ's opinion which the Commission affirmed without opinion was fraught with error and unsubstantiated allegations. The ALJ's opinion applied the very opposite of the standard. It accepted the Employer/Carrier's position as gospel and looked no further. In Waffle House, Inc. v. Allam 976 So.2d 919 @921-22 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) this Court clearly set forth that the entire evidence must be reviewed:

"[A] finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is some slight evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with \*922 definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of the Act." J.R. Logging v. Halford, 765 So.2d 580, 583 (Section 13) (Miss.Ct.App.2000). "Where no evidence or only a scintilla of evidence supports a Workers' Compensation Commission decision, this Court does not hesitate to reverse." Foamex Prods. Inc. v. Simons, 822 So.2d 1050, 1055 (Section 11) (Miss.Ct.Spp.2002). Waffle House v. Allam, supra.

The Circuit Court (following the ALJ and the Commission) accepted the Employer/Carrier's Experts who never examined Mr. Langford and who were hired for trial purposes as the only competent medical experts and completely ignored the claimant's treating physicians, including a respiratory specialist, cardiologist, and pathologist.

The evaluation does not follow applicable Mississippi Workers' Compensation Law which favors treating physicians:

Department of Health/Ellisville State School v. Stinson, 988
So.2d 933, 934 (Miss.Ct.App.2008), held:

We take note that a treating physician's opinion is entitled to more weight that a physician who examines the individual solely for the purpose of testifying. Clements v. Welling Truck Serv., Inc. 739 So.2d 476, 478 n. 1 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999)

Hinds County Board of Supervisors v. Johnson, 977 So.2d
1193, 1198, (Miss.Ct.App.2007), held:

"our case law permits courts [and administrative judges] to favor the testimony of treating physicians." As such, the administrative judge gave greater weight to Dr. Ellis's opinion and found that Johnson suffered a work-related injury.

Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Harris 837 So.2d 789, 792-93,
(Miss. 2003), held:

The medical evidence is not wholly conclusive; however, Harris is only required to prove his case by a preponderance of the evidence. Our case law permits courts to favor the testimony of treating physicians. Dr. Mansel's testimony that smoking would not cause the fibrotic scarring that led to Harris's pneumonia was uncontested. We find that the Commission's

findings of a compensable injury is supported by substantial evidence.

The evidence has never been evaluated giving due deference to the favorable evidence of treating physicians. This gaping flaw alone requires that this case be reversed.

II.

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION DENYING CLAIMANT TEMPORARY
TOTAL DISABILITY AND MEDICAL BENEFITS IS ARBITRARY,
CAPRICIOUS AND BASED UPON ERRORS OF LAW AND UNSUPPORTED
FINDINGS OF FACT.

The Administrative Law Judge's findings adopted from the Employer/Carrier's brief almost verbatim are not consistent with the Record. Dr. Timothy Hiebert, the pulmonary specialist, testified that Mr. Langford had a dangerously low oxygen reading, his respiratory status declined, and at the time of his assessment:

His condition was serious, severe, and life threatening. (RE 48)

And, you know, at the time on my assessment, I felt that the ammonia/acid chemical exposure caused hypoxemia and then had a cardiac decompensation on the basis of that. He got admitted to the hospital, and then ended up, you know, spending a long time on the vent. (RE 48)

The pulmonary specialist, Dr. Timothy Hiebert, testified that in an attempt to identify the injury or disease process occurring in Raymond Langford's lungs, that he took the unusual

and further invasive step of having a biopsy of the lung tissue taken so that it could be evaluated by a lung expert. The biopsy was evaluated by Dr. Waldron who determined that the tissue:

- A. I thought that tissue showed acute lung injury, which would be classifiable as diffuse alveolar damage, organization phase, with elements of bronchiolitis obliterans. And I thought that that pattern and the clinical setting certainly was consistent with some sort of inhalational injury to the lungs.
- \* \* \* Q. What was it about your interpretation of the evidence that you reviewed that made you reach the conclusion that it was a chemical pneumonitis, for lack of a better term?
- A. Well, I wouldn't have indicated that without the history.
  - Q. Okay.
- A. It turns out that the diffuse alveolar damage pathology is actually, you know, it's just a pattern of lung injury. And one can see that pattern of lung injury in a wide variety of circumstances.
- Q. I understand. So it's the combination of what you were seeing on the slides and the history of Mr. Langford ...
  - A. Yes.
- Q. \*\* as relayed to you through his physician that he had suffered this chemical exposure in the recent past.
- A. That's correct. Certainly, it would certainly be consistent with that etiology if that was felt to be the precipitating factor on clinical grounds.

## (RE 49-52)

Dr. Timothy Hiebert testified that the claimant's oxygen concentration was so low when first seen at Singing River Hospital that the oxygen deprivation alone could have caused heart failure. (RE 45)

Dr. Heitzman, the treating physician at the Ocean Springs hospital testified:

By history from Mr. Langford, some 24 to 36 hours after the chemical exposure is when he first started having shortness of breath. (Deposition of Heitzman, Page 15, Line 20-24)

Claimant had presence of curly B lines on his chest film, a finding of congestive heart failure in the lower part of his lungs, alveolar edema, when he was discharged from the hospital (Deposition of Heitzman, Page 17, Lines 14-25)

There could be other causes of the patient's pulmonary problems other than acute chemical exposure...but in this case Dr. Heitzman didn't think it likely. (Deposition of Heitzman, Page 18, Lines 20-24) And they did not find an infectious etiology. (Page 19, Line 17)

From the history in the discharge summary: "Holding a can. And it says for a cleaner. That's probably of cleaner. And he got the cleaner on his hand. And he inhaled vapors." (Deposition of Heitzman, Page 22, Lines 12-14)
(RE 53)

Dr. Pedone, who was Mr. Langford's cardiologist specialist, also testified that he had seen Mr. Langford within the last year, before the Crete Brite incident, that Mr. Langford had mild to moderate heart valve disease, and that at the time heart surgery was not recommended:

But I think it's possible beyond a reasonable doubt that the lung problem could have aggravated the valve problem, not necessarily the coronary problem, but definitely could have made the valvular heart problem progress at a more rapid rate than it would normally progressed, because usually, you know, one year is pretty rapid progression of the valves.

The normal progression of heart surgery is usually years, (RE 47):

- Q. And is it a fair characterization that basically after July of '01, Mr. Langford's condition worsened to the point that ultimately he had to have surgery, and once he had the surgery, the situation improved?
- A. Yeah, I didn't get a lot of follow-up with the guy because you know, I left the area, but that's a fair, you know, thought process.

  (RE 54)
- Dr. Pedone received a copy of Dr. Horowitz 11-18-2001 surgery consultation Report, (RE 55, 57-58) and testified further:
  - Q. What was the purpose of the surgery?
- A. To correct, you know, the leakage of the valves, to bypass the heart artery so he wouldn't have any more heart failure.
- Q. And mechanically how was that done? And I understand what a bypass does, but how do you repair the valve?
- A. Well, they can either do valve repair or valve replacement; it depends on the shape of the valve. You know. and it's up to the surgeon at the time of surgery, you know. And again, I don't know what - I have to look at the op report to see what Horowitz really did.
  - Q. Okay.
- A. He will put it at the top. If I remember, right, he put two new valves in and then did the bypass.
- Q. From the time you first saw Mr. Langford in the hospital in Ocean Springs July 26th, '01 until he had the surgery for the valve replacement and the bypass in November of '01, do you have an opinion as to whether or not he was disabled to the point where he was unable to work?
  - A. Yes, he was. He was real sick. He was.
- Q. And even assuming then a good result and a good recovery from the surgery in November '01, and if he was a very good patient, had a very good result, how long after that would it have been before you would have expected him to return to work?
- A. Somewhere between six weeks and three months usually, you know.

#### (RE 55, 56)

- Q. Okay. Would you please state whether or not you have sufficient medical facts to formulate an opinion in terms of reasonable medical certainty as to whether or not this patient sustained an injurious exposure to chemicals in July of 2001 or at any other time?
- A. The only - the main evidence we have is the lung biopsy. Okay, that would be the thing I'm hanging my hat on. (RE 57)

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