IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-WC-00640 COA

RAYMOND D. LANGFORD

APPELLANT

VERSUS

SOUTHLAND TRUCKING, L.L.C. AND MISSISSIPPI ASSOCIATED GENERAL CONTRACTORS WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND, INC.

APPELLEES

APPELLEES BRIEF

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED)

RONALD T. RUSSELL, ESQUIRE Mississippi Bar No Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A. Post Office Box 10 Gulfport, Mississippi 39502-0010 2781 C. T. Switzer Sr. Driver, Suite 200 Biloxi, MS 39531 (228) 863-6101 FAX: (228) 863-1884

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-WC-00640 COA

RAYMOND D. LANGFORD

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

At issue is whether the ruling of the Circuit Court of Jackson County affirming the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission's denial of the claim of Raymond D. Langford for medical and disability benefits is supported by substantial evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Course Of Proceeding And Disposition In The Tribunal Below

In the present worker's compensation claim, Claimant (Langford), Appellant herein, alleges in his Petition to Controvert that he sustained medical problems involving his heart and lungs which were allegedly caused by injurious exposure to chemicals at his place of employment on July 25, 2001. The Administrative Judge, based upon a review of all the lay and expert testimony evidence, concluded that the Claimant's testimony concerning the cause of the injury was not credible. On that basis alone the Administrative Judge determined that the claim should be denied, but more importantly, the Administrative Judge found the expert opinions provided by Dr. Robert Jones, Dr. William J. George and Dr. Robert Babcock to be more probative and the tests conducted extremely detailed. In comparison she found that the opinions rendered by Claimant's treating physicians were not based on a detailed accounting of all the facts and were not based upon reasonable medical probabilities as required by law. On this basis the Administrative Judge credited the testimony of the expert witnesses presented by the Employer and Carrier over those presented by Claimant. Accordingly, the Administrative Judge determined that the Claimant failed to prove that his lung and heart condition for which he was hospitalized on numerous occasions arose out of and in the course and scope of his employment with Southland Trucking Company and the claim for medical and disability benefits was denied in its entirety (P.V. II, p. 199-200)¹. The Administrative Judge's denial of the claim was

References to hearing transcript are designated as "TR" followed by the page number or numbers. References to exhibits are identified as "EX" followed by the volume referenced and the page number or the date of the report. References to the pleading volume are identified as "P.V." followed by the page number. References to the Circuit Court Record are designated as "CR" followed by the page number or numbers.

appealed to the Full Commission which affirmed the ruling of the Administrative Judge. (P.V. II, p. 205). On further appeal the Circuit Court of Jackson County in a well reasoned decision concluded that the decision of the Full Commission is supported by substantial evidence and thus must be affirmed in accordance with law. (C.R. 110-113).

The matter is now before this Court on the issue of whether or not the Decision of the Circuit Court affirming the finding of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is supported by substantial evidence.

(ii) Facts And Testimony

Claimant, Raymond D. Langford, at the time of the alleged incident was 52 years of age and employed as a truck driver for Southland Trucking, a cement trucking business. Claimant's job involved hauling sand and gravel to Metro Concrete, a neighboring business. The drivers cleaned their trucks on the weekends, and to assist the drivers in cleaning the chrome rims and fuel tanks on their trucks, they used a cleaner called Crete Brite, which was stored at Metro Concrete² a nearby facility. On the afternoon of Wednesday, July 25, 2001, Claimant alleges he experienced an injurious exposure to toxic fumes when Kenneth Mitchell, a co-worker from Metro Concrete, assisted him in pouring Crete-Brite from a 55-gallon drum into a small container for him to allegedly use to clean the cement truck that weekend. Claimant alleges he was holding the smaller container and the Crete Brite, when being poured by Mr. Mitchell, "sloshed" and "spilled" on his hands and his shirt and he inhaled the vapors.

² Tanya Philbrook explained that the Southland truck drivers normally washed their trucks at Metro Concrete and used the Crete Brite stored in a storage shed at that site. (EX III, Exhibit "19", p. 13-14).

There is a substantial issue as to whether Claimant sustained any type of injurious exposure to Crete Brite while working on July 25, 2001. Also, various parts of Claimant's testimony regarding the July 25, 2001 event are not corroborated by testimony of other individuals or by the medical records. More importantly, Claimant's testimony at trial is contradicted by his own deposition testimony (TR p. 10, 19, 23-30). Under these circumstances, the Administrative Judge concluded in her Opinion that, based upon a review of all the evidence, Claimant's testimony concerning the cause of injury is not credible (P.V. II, p. 199). A review of the relevant testimony relied upon by the Administrative Judge, Full Commission, and Circuit Court follows:

a. Inconsistent Testimony from Claimant Regarding July 25, 2001 Event.

Appellant testified at deposition that the cap had just been taken off the 55-gallon drum and it was completely full of Crete Brite, so that when Mr. Mitchell poured the Crete Brite, it "sloshed" and "spilled" on Claimant's hands. (EX III, Exhibit "18", p. 17, 20-21). Claimant testified at deposition that the Crete Brite did not get on anything other than his hands. (Id., p. 21). However, at trial, Claimant added that the Crete Brite spilled on his shirt (TR p. 10).

Mr. Mitchell, on the other hand, testified that the 55-gallon drum out of which the Crete-Brite was being poured was about one-quarter to one-half full. (EX III, Exhibit "21", p. 22-25). Mr. Mitchell testified that if the drum had been full as Claimant alleges, it probably would have weighed 400 to 500 pounds and Mr. Mitchell would not have been able to handle the drum to be able to pour out the Crete Brite. (Id.). Mr. Mitchell further testified that when he was pouring the Crete Brite, he was watching where he was pouring and saw that about a quart spilled on the container and the concrete slab. (Id., p. 32, 34-35). Mr. Mitchell testified that Claimant was holding the smaller container by the handle. (Id., p. 34). Mr. Mitchell does not recall if the Crete

Brite spilled on Claimant's hands or feet, and therefore, Claimant's testimony regarding Crete Brite spilling on his hands and shirt remains uncorroborated. (Id.).

b. Question of Whether Claimant Took Crete Brite For His Personal Use.

In his deposition testimony, Claimant testified that after he filled the plastic jug with Crete Brite at Metro Concrete with the assistance of Kenneth Mitchell, he placed the jug in the back of his personal pick-up truck and drove next door to Southland, where he completed his paperwork for the day. (EX III, Exhibit 18, p. 18-19, 26-29). Claimant testified that when he arrived at Southland, he took the jug of Crete Brite out of the back of his personal pick-up truck and put it in the shop, and this is the last time he saw the jug of Crete Brite. (Id.). Claimant testified it was approximately 3:00 or 3:30 p.m. on July 25, 2001 when he finally got through doing his paperwork and left the office of Southland. (Id.). However, at trial he testified that he went home after he got the Crete Brite because the shop was already closed (TR, p. 12, 25-26).

Tanya Kristy Philbrook was the bookkeeper for Southland Trucking during the time period in which Claimant was employed. Ms. Philbrook was deposed on December 22, 2005 and her testimony is in direct contradiction to that of Claimant's deposition testimony. In particular, Ms. Philbrook testified that on July 27, 2001, two days after the alleged injurious exposure, she went to Ocean Springs Hospital to bring Claimant his paycheck. (EX III, Exhibit "19", p. 10). Claimant was in ICU and his was wife was visiting him at that time. (Id., p. 11). After some discussion, Ms. Philbrook offered to cash his paycheck and to bring the cash back to the hospital. (Id., p. 12).

While Ms. Philbrook was still visiting, the subject of Crete Brite came up. The Langfords told Ms. Philbrook that Claimant was in the hospital because he had a reaction to the Crete Brite. (Id., p. 11, 12). Ms. Philbrook explained in her deposition that Crete Brite is used by the

Southland truck drivers to clean the 18-wheelers. Ms. Philbrook further explained that the Crete Brite is stored at Metro Concrete, which is located just on the other side of the railroad tracks from Southland. Both businesses are owned by Jimmy Lane. The Southland truck drivers wash their trucks on the premises of Metro Concrete (Id., p. 6-9, 13-14, 21-22).

Ms. Philbrook went on to testify that she became aware that Claimant was in possession of Crete Brite. In Ms. Philbrook's presence at the hospital, Mrs. Langford was wanting to go home and wanted someone to take the Crete Brite out of the back of Claimant's personal pick-up truck before she left. (Id., p. 14-15). Ms. Philbrook testified that Claimant was not supposed to have Crete Brite in his personal possession. (Id., p. 15). In response, Ms. Philbrook told the Langfords she would take it out or get somebody to come get it out of his truck. (Id.). Ms. Philbrook testified that she called Eddie Jordan, a salesman for Metro Concrete, to get the Crete Brite. (Id.). Upon return to the hospital from cashing Claimant's paycheck, Ms. Philbrook saw that the Crete Brite was still in the back of Claimant's pick-up truck. (Id., p. 17). As such, Ms. Philbrook put the container of Crete Brite in the trunk of her car and returned it to Metro Concrete herself. (Id., p. 17, 29).

As can be seen, a significant inconsistency was appropriately noted by the Administrative Judge in the Claimant's testimony who testified in his deposition that he never saw the Crete Brite again after he allegedly put the jug in the Southland shop. This testimony was directly refuted by the testimony of Tanya Philbrook.

Faced with inconsistency, Claimant changed his testimony at trial. Claimant testified that after reading Ms. Philbrook's deposition testimony, he realized that he was mistaken. Claimant stated that he had not taken the smaller container of Crete Brite to the Southland shop because Southland was closed by that time. Claimant stated that he realized he probably should not have

taken the Crete Brite home, but that he had nowhere else to leave the container (TR p. 25-30). This testimony makes little sense because the place where Claimant obtained the Crete Brite was out in the open. Moreover, there would have been nothing to prevent him from leaving the container of Crete Brite back at Metro Concrete where he would be using it the following Saturday, three days later.

In any event, Appellant went on to testify that because he needed the Crete Brite to clean his truck that weekend and because Southland had locked the gates, he would not have been able to return to Southland and pick up the container before washing his truck that weekend. Again, little sense is made of Claimant's new testimony given the fact that the incident in question occurred on a Wednesday, and he would not need the Crete Brite to wash his truck until Saturday morning. Another question arises as to how could Claimant clean his truck on Saturday morning, as he says he had done every weekend prior to this incident, if he claimed Southland locked the gates? There apparently was no reason to take the Crete Brite home. Based upon these and other inconsistencies the Administrative Judge concluded that the testimony of the Claimant lacked credibility.

c. Claimant Used Crete Brite Before Without Any Problems, as Did Other Employees.

Claimant testified he cleaned his truck every weekend prior to the July 25, 2001 incident in question – about eight (8) or nine (9) times in all. (EX III, Exhibit "18", p. 45-46). Claimant admitted he had used Crete Brite on occasions prior to July 25, 2001 by pouring it full strength from a plastic jug into a pop-up spray bottle. (Id., p. 46-49). On these prior occasions, Claimant did not experience any difficulty. (Id.). Claimant also admitted he was unaware of any coemployee experiencing any difficulty from exposure to Crete Brite. (Id., p. 54).

In addition, Tanya Philbrook testified that during the nine years and eleven months that she worked for Jimmy Lane and Southland Trucking, she was not aware of anyone having any complaints from using the Crete Brite. (EX III, Exhibit "19", p. 18). Kenneth Mitchell testified that he had used Crete Brite off and on for about a year and a half while working at Metro Concrete and neither he nor anyone else that he is aware of had any problems or complaints. (EX III, Exhibit "21", p. 20-21, 36, 41).

d. Claimant Did Not Exhibit Usual Signs or Symptoms of Toxic Exposure Following July 25, 2001 Event.

Claimant testified at his deposition and at trial that he did not feel bad the remainder of the day on July 25, 2001. Claimant stated he went home, took a shower, ate dinner, watched television for a while and then went to bed. (EX III, Exhibit "18", p. 29-31). Claimant testified he first experienced shortness of breath when he awoke the next morning at approximately 2:00 a.m. to begin work at 3:00 a.m. (Id., p. 30). If one assumes Claimant's deposition testimony to be correct, it took approximately twelve (12) hours from the event until the onset of any symptomatology (i.e., shortness of breath).

In addition, Claimant testified that although the Crete Brite allegedly spilled on his hands, he experienced no rash, redness, blisters or any other observable effect of the Crete Brite being on his hands. (EX III, Exhibit "18", p. 30-31). Claimant further testified that the only symptom which he has experienced since July 25, 2001 has been shortness of breath. (<u>Id.</u>, p. 43, 50). Claimant specifically denied experiencing any nausea, headache, dizziness, or other symptom allegedly as a result of his exposure to Crete Brite. (<u>Id.</u>).

e. Claimant's Testimony Regarding Onset of Symptomatology Is Inconsistent with the Medical Records.

Again, Claimant testified he first experienced shortness of breath when he awoke the next morning (i.e., July 26, 2001) at approximately 2:00 a.m. to begin work at 3:00 a.m., which, if correct, was approximately twelve (12) hours from the time of the event until the onset of his symptomatology (i.e., shortness of breath). The Singing River Hospital Emergency Room records, however, state Claimant first began to experience shortness of breath about twenty-four (24) hours to thirty-six (36) hours prior to admission, which would put the onset of symptomatology contemporaneous with the incident pouring Crete Brite. In other words, the history given by Claimant at the emergency room is not consistent with his deposition testimony, as regards his alleged onset of symptomatology.

Also inconsistent is the history that Claimant provided to Dr. Michael D. Horowitz, a cardiac surgeon consulted on August 6, 2001 by Dr. Pedone during the second hospitalization.

According to Dr. Horowitz's Consultation Report, Claimant reported the following: "He said that he was doing very well until approximately two weeks ago. One night, he used an industrial cleaning product to clean a truck. The product is apparently named 'Everbrite' and contains a variety of caustic agents. He said that he inhaled fumes from this compound. The following morning, he went to Picayune in his employment as a truck driver. While returning, he began to feel badly." Obviously, the story told to Dr. Horowitz is completely different than the testimony of Appellant. Again, a question occurs as to whether Claimant used the Crete Brite for his own personal use after the July 25, 2001 event. Moreover, this indicates that Claimant's symptoms did not begin until after he dropped off the truck load on the morning of July 26, 2001 as opposed to when he first woke up at 2:00 a.m. that morning.

Based on the above, Claimant has provided three (3) different stories as to when his symptoms began. Thus the record presents credibility issues and the Administrative Judge and

the Commission as finders of fact and judge of credibility of witnesses were within their discretion in so ruling. *Roberts v. Junior Food Mart*, 208 So.2d 232.

(iii) Medical Testimony and Expert Testimony

The Employer and Carrier, Appellees herein, presented expert reports and testimony of Dr. Robert N. Jones, Dr. William J. George, and Dr. Robert Babcock, as evidence in support of their position that the Claimant did not sustain an **injurious** exposure to Crete Brite while working on July 25, 2001.

a. Opinions of Robert N. Jones, M.D., Internist, Pulmonologist, and Professor of Medicine.

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